IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANDREW KRAUSE and DAVID BAUTSCH,		
Petitioners		
V.	Case No.: Lower Ct. Case No.:	SC09881 2D07-4060
TEXTRON FINANCIAL CORPORATION,		
Respondent.	/	

PETITIONERS' JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

On Review from the Second District Court of Appeals, State of Florida

WILLIAM A. DONOVAN
Florida Bar # 228958
WILLIAM A. DONOVAN, P.A.
2671 Airport Road, South, Suite 304
Naples, FL 34112
239-793-0013 Telephone
239-885-8581 Facsimile
Attorney for Petitioners,
ANDREW KRAUSE and DAVID
BAUTSCH

By:		
•	WILIAM A. DONOVAN

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioners purchased separate equity memberships in the TwinEagles Golf and Country Club in 1997. Their membership agreement entitled them, upon resignation, to 90% of the purchase price upon resale to a new member. In May and June of 1999, Petitioners resigned, and TwinEagles sold their resigned memberships. Petitioners were entitled to sums in the area of \$90,000 each, but TwinEagles delivered Petitioners' money to Respondent, Textron, in partial satisfaction of a 1998 loan that was secured by TwinEagles assets. The security included the club's previously unsold new memberships, and required that TwinEagles sell only one resigned membership for every three that it sold. Within months of the delivery of Petitioners' funds to Respondent, TwinEagles voluntarily entered into Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceedings on September 9, 1999.

In June of 2000, Petitioners filed an adversary proceeding in the bankruptcy case, alleging that TwinEagles had improperly paid all of the proceeds from the resale of their resigned memberships to Respondent prior to its filing of the petition for relief in the bankruptcy court. In count one, Petitioners sought declaratory relief against TwinEagles, and in count two, they asked for the imposition of a constructive trust against any of the remaining proceeds realized from the resale of golf

¹Bautsch had filed a civil action in circuit court in Collier County against TwinEagles prior to commencement of the bankruptcy proceeding. The circuit court lost jurisdiction when bankruptcy was commenced.

memberships or, in the alternative, "in Textron's secured claim to the extent the membership sale proceeds [were] used by [TwinEagles] or encumbered with [TwinEagles'] permission by Textron's secured claim."²

From June 9, 2000 through September 11, 2005 (five years and three months) neither TwinEagles nor Respondent, Textron, raised any issue concerning the bankruptcy court's subject matter jurisdiction. On April 23, 2002, Respondent moved for summary judgment on the merits as to count two of Petitioners' complaint. Subject matter jurisdiction was not raised. The bankruptcy court granted the motion, and Petitioners attempted to appeal; however, since count one remained pending, the appeal was dismissed. On May 5, 2005, Petitioners voluntarily dismissed with prejudice the remaining count of their complaint against TwinEagles, and pursued their appeal of the July 16, 2002 summary judgment in favor of Respondent.

After five years and three months of adversarial proceedings litigation, on September 12, 2005, Respondent first raised the subject matter jurisdiction issue

²Petitioners and Respondent were creditors in the bankruptcy proceeding, and each of them filed proofs of claim. Petitioners were undisputedly owed about \$180,000, and, at a minimum, they would have participated in the estate distribution on a prorata basis with similarly classified creditors. The adversary complaint essentially claimed that TwinEagles wrongfully conveyed, and Textron wrongfully held, property (money) that was **owned** by Petitioners. Conceivably, success against Textron would have reduced, perhaps completely, Petitioners' claims against the estate. That would have reduced the total amount claimed, reduced the number of creditors and increased the distributable amounts to the remaining creditors. That effect fit quite solidly within the definition of a non-core but related claim.

when it moved to dismiss the appeal. On January 12, 2006, the District Court (as appellate court) rejected the Respondent's argument that it did not have appellate jurisdiction, found that the allegations of the adversarial complaint were sufficient to vest jurisdiction in the trial court, reversed the appealed summary judgment, but made a <u>factual finding</u> that <u>now</u> the trial court did not have subject matter jurisdiction over the adversarial claim. That order concluded:

On May 16, 2005, appellants dismissed their claims in the adversary proceeding against TwinEagles, the only party to the adversary proceeding that was a debtor before the Bankruptcy Court. Therefore, no relief can be obtained in the appeal with respect to TwinEagles as to either Counts I or II. If appellants are successful as to Count II, the only appellate relief would be against Textron. As such, the lawsuit is now a matter solely between third-party non-debtors, and cannot affect the bankruptcy estate of TwinEagle or related entities.

Given the fact that there was no longer any "core" proceeding, Judge Steele logically concluded that the claim against Respondent was then non-core and not related. However, he specifically acknowledged that the "effect of this was not that the Bankruptcy Court lacked jurisdiction from the inception..." He ordered dismissal of the adversary proceeding against Respondent. That concluded all pending matters between Petitioner and Respondent.

After that dismissal, but within 30 days, Petitioners filed their state court action against Respondent. Respondent, in a motion to dismiss, argued that the applicable statute of limitations barred the action. The trial court agreed, found that the tolling provisions of 28 U.S.C. 1367(d) did not apply, and dismissed the action. A

timely appeal was taken, and the Second District Court of Appeals, in a written opinion, held that the tolling provision of 28 U.S.C 1367(d) was not applicable, and that the statute of limitations had run. In *Krause v. Textron Financial Corporation*, 34 Fla. L. Weekly D788 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2009) it affirmed the lower court's dismissal.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Fourth District Court of Appeal held that Plaintiffs in a state court action, admittedly filed beyond the applicable state statute of limitations, were not entitled to the 30-day tolling provisions of 28 U.S.C. 1367(d)³, where their federal adversarial complaint in bankruptcy was dismissed based on a <u>factual finding</u> that the Bankruptcy Court did not then have subject matter jurisdiction. The decision of the district court expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in *Scarfo v. Ginsberg*, 817 So. 2d 919 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002).

³28 U.S.C. §§ 1367(a) & (d) provide:

⁽a) Except as provided in subsections (b) and (c) or as expressly provided otherwise by Federal statute, in any civil action of which the district courts have original jurisdiction, the district courts shall have supplemental jurisdiction over all other claims that are so related to claims in the action within such original jurisdiction that they form part of the same case or controversy under Article III of the United States Constitution. Such supplemental jurisdiction shall include claims that involve the joinder or intervention of additional parties.

⁽d) The period of limitations for any claim asserted under subsection (a), and for any other claim in the same action that is voluntarily dismissed at the same time as or after the dismissal of the claim under subsection (a), shall be tolled while the claim is pending and for a period of 30 days after it is dismissed unless State law provides for a longer tolling period. (emphasis added)

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Florida Supreme Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of a district court that directly and expressly conflicts with the Supreme Court or another district court of appeal on the same point of law. Art. V, § 3(b)(3) Fla.Const. (1980); Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THIS CASE EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN *SCARFO V. GINSBERG*, 817 SO. 2D 919, (FLA. 4TH DCA 2002).

Ms. Scarfo's foray into Federal court involved a Federal action against her employers for sexual harassment pursuant to Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and Florida state actions for battery and intentional infliction of emotional distress, etc. Her employers moved for summary judgment, contending that the trial court did not have subject matter jurisdiction because none of the corporations employed at least 15 employees, the minimum under the Title VII definition of "employer." 42 U.S.C. §2000e(b) (1998), in pertinent part, defines employer as "a person... who had fifteen or more employees for each working day in each of twenty or more calendar weeks in the current or proceeding calendar year..." In short, the trial court made a <u>factual finding</u> that Scarfo's employers had fewer than 15 employees, that subject matter jurisdiction was therefore lacking, and it dismissed her Federal and state claims. In *Scarfo v Ginsberg*, 175 F.3d 957 (11th Cir.

1999) the Eleventh Circuit affirmed.

Within 30 days, Ms. Scarfo filed her Florida state action (some seven years after the alleged misconduct) in circuit court, and her employers moved for summary judgment, arguing that the state claims were barred by the statute of limitations. The matter was dismissed, and appealed to the Fourth District.

In *Scarfo v. Ginsberg*, 817 So. 2d 919, (Fla. 4th DCA 2002), the Fourth District phrased the issue as follows:

The issue in this case, where an action was dismissed on grounds that the statute of limitations had already run when it was refiled in state court, is whether the original filing of the same action in federal court operated to toll the statute during the pendency of the federal action. Id at p. 920

The Fourth District found the federal tolling provisions to be applicable and reasoned:

It is true that the federal court of appeals rationalized the dismissal of the federal claim on grounds of subject matter jurisdiction. We disagree, however, that such a dismissal makes the tolling provision of section 1367(d) inapplicable. We do not think the text of section 1367(d) supports such a narrowing of the sweep of that provision.

In this case plaintiff based subject matter jurisdiction in federal court on federal question grounds, rather than on diversity of citizenship. We note that in this instance the issue as to subject matter jurisdiction raised by defendants did not contend that plaintiff's claim was of a class that on its face could not be brought in federal court. Instead defendants' attack was based on a factual dispute as to whether any of the defendants qualified as employers under Title VII. After a "trial" on that issue, the court determined that none of the defendants met the Title VII requirements for liability. It was only on the basis of the resolution of that factual dispute that the court dismissed plaintiff's federal claim. Id at p. 920

Scarfo recognized that "The purpose of this tolling provision is u doubtedly to allow claimants to pursue their federal claim in a federal court without cost to their state law claims, should the federal claim prove unsuccessful." At p. 921 Despite the invitation, Scarfo refused to delve into legislative intent to determine what Congress really meant when it said "any claim asserted." It found the language of 28 U.S.C. 1367 to be clear and unambiguous.

Section 1367(d) provides for a tolling of state law limitations on *any* state law claim *asserted* in federal court under section 1367(a). The only requirements are that the claim be *asserted* under section 1367(a). Plaintiff's dismissed claims arose under state law and they were asserted in federal court under section 1367(a). The mere fact that the federal court of appeals saw the question of the employers' liability under Title VII as an issue of subject matter jurisdiction does not change the text of section 1367. Section 1367(d) exactly fits the facts and circumstances of this case. Id at p. 921

In contrast, the Second District, in the instant case, held:

Because this claim against Textron was not "related to" the claim against TwinEagles, it is not entitled to the federal court's supplemental jurisdiction and the tolling pro vision found in 28 U.S.C. §1367(d) does not apply. As such, the trial court was correct to dismiss the claim, which was filed beyond the five-year statute of limitations period found in section 95.11(2)(b). Id at p. 790

Rather than applying the clear and unambiguous language of subsection (d), the Second District added its own interpretation, and carved out an exception to "any claim asserted under subsection (a). In effect, it ruled that "any claim asserted under subsection (a)" did not mean "any claim," but only those asserted claims that were not ultimately members of that huge class <u>factually determined</u> to be out-

side the supplemental subject matter jurisdiction of the Federal court. It merits noting that Respondent never raised the subject matter jurisdiction issue during more than five years of litigation, and then only after the state statute of limitations had run.

Congress could easily have written the law to read to the effect that the 30-day tolling period applied to "any claim asserted under subsection (a), except for those claims where the court makes a factual finding that it did not have subject matter jurisdiction because the claims were not sufficiently related." Congress did not do that. The Second District Court of Appeals did that, and placed itself in express and direct conflict with the Fourth District Court of Appeals on a very important issue.

Certainly, there are some factual and procedural distinctions between the instant case and *Scarfo*. In the instant case, original federal jurisdiction was pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code, and in *Scarfo*, it was pursuant to Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. In *Scarfo*, the Federal cause of action was dismissed after a factual finding of no jurisdiction (threshold proof of employer status not satisfied); dismissal of the state actions was perfunctory. In the instant case, the core Federal claim was voluntarily dismissed, and the state court claim was involuntarily dismissed after a <u>factual determination</u> that the trial court did not have subject matter jurisdiction (not sufficiently related) over it.

These distinctions do not alter the fact that Scarfo's holding was broad, and it recognized that the tolling graces of 28 U.S.C. 1367(d) really were available to "any claim asserted under subsection (a)." (emphasis added)

The January 12, 2006 order of the Federal district court, expressly acknowledged that jurisdiction is determined on the facts as they exist when the complaint is filed, and that there *was* federal jurisdiction over this action at the outset.

The effect of this is not that the Bankruptcy Court lacked jurisdiction from the inception, but rather that the Bankruptcy Court should have dismissed the adversary Complaint for a lack of subject matter jurisdiction...

That was twenty-twenty hindsight after five years of discovery and litigation; quite similar to the situation in *Scarfo*.

The language of subsection (d) is clear. If a claim was asserted under subsection (a), and in the instant case (*Krause*), it was, upon its dismissal, claimants had 30 days to file their actions in state court. That is the holding of *Scarfo*, and Petitioners contend that the contrary position of the Second District is in express and direct conflict.

Petitioners' claim for unjust enrichment was based on the same core set of facts as those asserted in their claim to impose a constructive trust. If the cause of action for constructive trust is allowed to proceed, the count for unjust enrichment would relate back, and not be barred by the statute of limitations. *Holly v. Innovative*, 803 So. 2d 749 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002).

CONCLUSION

This court has discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision below, and the court should exercise that jurisdiction to consider the merits of the Petitioners' argument.