IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

| ANDREW KRAUSE a | nd |
|-----------------|----|
| DAVID BAUTSCH, | |

Petitioners,

v. Supreme Ct. Case No.: SC09-881 Lower Ct. Case No.: 2D07-4060

TEXTRON FINANCIAL CORPORATION,

| Respondent. | |
|-------------|---|
| | / |

RESPONDENT'S (JURISDICTIONAL) ANSWER BRIEF

On Review from the Second District Court of Appeal, State of Florida

BERGER SINGERMAN, P.A. 200 S. Biscayne Blvd., Suite 1000 Miami, FL 33131 Tel: (305) 755-9500 Fax: (305) 714-4340 Attorneys for the Respondent, TEXTRON FINANCIAL CORPORATION

Jordi Guso Florida Bar No. 863580 Paul A. Avron Florida Bar No. 0050814

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In May 1997 Andrew Krause and David Bautsch ("Petitioners") purchased golf memberships at the Twin Eagles Golf & Country Club, Inc. ("TGCC"). Textron Financial Corp. ("Textron" or "Respondent") was <u>not</u> a party to the agreement which governed the contractual relationships between TGCC and Petitioners, and neither Petitioner was a party to the Loan Agreement (or related documents) dated July 6, 1998 entered into by and between Textron, as lender, and TGCC and TwinEagles Land Group I, LLC ("Land Group"), as borrowers.

On April 29, 1999 and May 18, 1999, prior to the Petition Date (as defined below) Bautsch and Krause, respectively, resigned as members of TGCC. On May 5, 1999 and June 4, 1999, TGCC sold the memberships of Bautsch and Krause, respectively, to new members of TGCC. Petitioners alleged that TGCC was obligated to remit to them the proceeds of the sale of their memberships as of May 5, 1999 and June 4, 1999, respectively. TGCC deposited the proceeds of the sales into its account and, prior to the Petition Date, delivered the proceeds to Textron.

On September 9, 1999 ("Petition Date"), TGCC and six affiliates ("Debtors") filed chapter 11 bankruptcy cases in the Bankruptcy Court, Middle District of Florida, at which time Textron was owed approximately \$9 million.

On June 15, 2000, Petitioners filed a *Complaint* against TGCC and Textron initiating an Adversary Proceeding in the Bankruptcy Court. Petitioners sought

only <u>one</u> form of relief against Textron: the "imposition of a constructive trust against any remaining golf membership sale proceeds or, alternatively, in Textron's secured claim to the extent of the membership sale proceeds used by [TGCC] or encumbered with [TGCC's] permission by Textron's secured claim." *Complaint*, Wherefore Clause.¹

On April 23, 2002, Textron moved for summary judgment in the Adversary Proceeding and in support thereof submitted the April 18, 2002 Affidavit of Franklin D. Lea who testified (¶ 14, 15 and 17), *inter alia*, that (i) pursuant to the Order confirming the Debtors' chapter 11 plan of reorganization Textron was adjudicated to have an allowed secured claim in the amount of \$17,512,000 secured by first priority liens upon all of TGCC's assets, (ii) as provided in the Debtors' chapter 11 plan and disclosure statement, Textron's allowed secured claim was <u>satisfied in full</u> from the proceeds of the sale of the Debtors' assets and, as a result, Textron released <u>all of its liens and no longer held any claim against the Debtors</u>, and (iii) the funds Textron received in satisfaction of its allowed secured claim "have been <u>commingled</u> with other, unrelated funds and are no longer

-

¹Prior to the Petition Date, Petitioners filed suit in state court but <u>elected</u> to dismiss that suit and seek relief in the Debtors' bankruptcy proceedings as opposed to seeking relief from the automatic stay, 11 U.S.C. § 362(a). Petitioners state that upon the filing of the Debtors' bankruptcy cases the state court "lost" jurisdiction. Petitioners' Brief, n.1. However, the automatic stay provisions of the Bankruptcy Code merely precluded the continued prosecution of that lawsuit absent modification of the stay by the Bankruptcy Court, relief that was <u>not</u> sought.

subject to tracing." (Emphasis Added). The testimony as to commingling was uncontradicted.

By Order dated July 18, 2002, the Bankruptcy Court entered summary judgment in favor of Textron and against Petitioners ("SJ Order"). On May 5, 2005, Petitioners <u>elected</u> to dismiss the Adversary Proceeding as to TGCC <u>with</u> <u>prejudice</u> which formally concluded the Adversary Proceeding as the SJ Order pertained only to Textron.

On January 12, 2006, the District Court, Middle District of Florida, sitting as an appellate court, entered an order dismissing Petitioners' appeal of the SJ Order based on lack of subject matter jurisdiction.² The District Court held that because the funds sought to be recovered by Petitioners had been transferred to a non-debtor third party—Textron—prior to the Petition Date, the Adversary Proceeding did not "involve property of the [bankruptcy] estate [and, therefore,] not only is it a noncore proceeding, it is an unrelated matter completely beyond the bankruptcy court's subject matter jurisdiction." *Opinion and Order* at 10 (quoting *In re Galluci*, 931 F.2d 738, 742 (11th Cir. 1991)) (Emphasis Added). In *dicta*, the District Court stated that its holding did not mean that the Bankruptcy Court lacked

² According to Petitioners, there was an undue delay in the Respondent's assertion of a lack of subject matter jurisdiction before the Bankruptcy Court. Petitioners' Brief at 2-3. Even if true, that delay is a red-herring because it is black letter law that subject matter jurisdiction can be raised at any time. *See*, *e.g.*, *Burke v. Esposito*, 972 So. 2d 1026, 1029 (Fla. 2d DCA 2008).

jurisdiction from the "inception," *id.*; however, the trial court below understood the District Court to have found that the Bankruptcy Court "never had jurisdiction." *Order Granting Motion to Dismiss* at 4; Note 3, *infra*. Having concluded that the Bankruptcy Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction, the District Court directed the Bankruptcy Court to vacate its prior SJ Order in favor of Textron, which it did.

On February 10, 2006, Petitioners proceeded, for the second time, in state court and filed the *Complaint* initiating the lawsuit subject of this appeal. On June 5, 2006, Petitioners filed their *Amended Complaint*; Count I sought the remedy of a constructive trust over the funds received by Textron, and Count II sought the remedy of unjust enrichment. However, it is undisputed that the <u>only</u> remedy Petitioners requested in the previously dismissed Adversary Proceeding as against Textron was the imposition of a constructive trust.

On June 23, 2006, Textron filed its *Motion to Dismiss Amended Complaint* through which it argued, in part, that (i) the claims asserted by Petitioners were time-barred, and (ii) Petitioners were not entitled to imposition of a constructive trust as a matter of law, that is, they could not establish a relationship, let alone a "confidential relationship," with Textron, and tracing of the proceeds of the sale of Petitioners' memberships (commingled seven years earlier) would be impossible.

On May 9, 2007, the trial court held that the claims asserted in the *Amended Complaint* were time-barred and, therefore, the court declined to address Textron's

argument that Petitioners were not entitled to imposition of a constructive trust.

The trial court agreed with Respondent that section 1367(d) did not apply.

Petitioners appealed to the Second District Court of Appeal which, after briefing and oral argument, affirmed the trial court in an order dated April 17, 2009. Krause et al. v. Textron Fin. Corp., 2009 WL 1025406 (Fla. 2d DCA April 17, 2009). The Second District recounted the District Court's holding that the state law claims against Textron were beyond the Bankruptcy Court's "related to" subject matter jurisdiction and that that holding, which Petitioners elected not to challenge on appeal, was outcome "determinative." *Id.*, *3. Quoting from *Heckman* v. City of Oakland Park, 644 So. 2d 525, 527 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), the Second District explained that Petitioners "were free to choose the forum in which they sought to litigate the [ir] claims. They cannot now argue a tolling of a state court statue of limitation[s] because of their voluntary but improvident foray into the federal arena." Id. (Emphasis added). The court's opinion did not address the primary case relied upon by Textron regarding section 1367(d), Ovadia v. Bloom, 756 So. 2d 137 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000), or Petitioners which is cited in support of the claimed conflict, Scarfo v. Ginsberg, 817 So. 2d 919 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002).

The Second District specifically addressed Petitioners' claim for unjust enrichment, agreeing with Textron that because the claim was <u>not</u> asserted in the Adversary Proceeding before the Bankruptcy Court the tolling provisions of

section 1367(d) did not apply to that claim either rendering it time-barred, too. *Krause*, 2009 WL 1025406, *3.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There is no express and direct conflict between Krause and *Scarfo* where, *inter alia*, there was an absence of "original" jurisdiction in *Krause* under section 1367(a), which incorporates the tolling provisions of section 1367(d), but such jurisdiction was present in *Scarfo*. Alternatively, to the extent the Court finds an express and direct conflict, this distinction, among others, militates against the exercise of the Court's discretion to hear the appeal, especially where in no event can Petitioners establish their state law claims as against Textron.

ARGUMENT

A. <u>Jurisdictional Statement</u>

This Court has <u>discretionary</u> jurisdiction to review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal on the same question of law. Art. V, § 3(b)(3), <u>Fla. Const.</u>; Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

B. Analysis

Petitioners assert that the *Krause* expressly and directly conflicts with *Scarfo*. Specifically, Petitioners argue that their claims were dismissed after the District Court made a <u>factual finding</u> that the constructive trust claim asserted

against Textron was beyond the Bankruptcy Court's "related to" jurisdiction whereas in *Scarfo* the state law claims were allowed to proceed in the absence of such jurisdiction. There are several flaws in this argument, many of which reflect the materially distinguishable facts between these cases which militate against a finding of an express and direct conflict or, alternatively, the exercise of this Court's discretion to hear the appeal.

First, the District Court, sitting as an appellate court in bankruptcy, did not make (and could not have made) any findings of fact as repeatedly urged by Petitioners. *In re Sublett*, 895 F.2d 1381, 1384 (11th Cir. 1990) (appellate courts in bankruptcy cannot make independent findings of fact; that is the function of the bankruptcy court sitting as the trial court). Second, unlike in *Scarfo*, there was no "trial" on the issue of jurisdiction. In fact, jurisdiction was not at issue in *Scarfo* where the court addressed only whether the defendant was an "employer" for purposes of determining the viability of a lawsuit brought under Title VII. Third, unlike in *Scarfo*, Petitioners elected to voluntarily dismiss with prejudice their claim against TGCC that allowed them to be in federal court in the first instance leaving only claims against Textron for which there was never jurisdiction since the funds at issue were transferred to Textron prior to the Petition Date and, thus,

were never part of the Debtors' bankruptcy estates.³ Thus, as explained in *Ovaida*, relief under section 1367(d) was unavailable there (as in the instant case) because the federal district court never had subject matter jurisdiction based on the lack of complete diversity between the parties. Stated another way, the Bankruptcy Court lacked "original" jurisdiction over the claim against Textron that would provide for supplemental jurisdiction pursuant to section 1367(a) which existed in *Scarfo*.

Fourth, in *Scarfo*, unlike in the instant case, the federal district court dismissed the state law claims "without prejudice to refiling them in state court," *Scarfo*, 817 So. 2d at 920 (emphasis added), specifically setting up the subsequent filing by the plaintiff of a state court lawsuit. Fifth, *Scarfo*, *Ovaida*, and *Krause* are, in fact, consistent with each other in that all three decisions require that state law claims asserted in federal court be brought pursuant to section 1367(a)—which is the hook that makes applicable the tolling provisions contained in section 1367(d)—and requires "original jurisdiction" lacking in *Krause* (and *Ovaida*) but present in *Scarfo*. Based on the foregoing, there is no express and direct conflict between *Krause* and *Scarfo*.

-

The District Court's statement, in *dicta*, that even though there was a complete lack of subject matter jurisdiction that didn't mean that that jurisdiction was lacking at the outset was wrong because (i) the proceeds from the sale of the Petitioners' golf memberships were transferred to Textron <u>prior</u> to the filing of the bankruptcy cases such that these funds did not constitute property of the Debtors' estates, and (ii) Petitioners' claims against Textron involved non-debtors as to which any recovery would have no effect on the Debtors' bankruptcy estates.

To the extent the Court concludes otherwise, the Respondent respectfully submits it should not exercise the discretion vested in it to hear the appeal because, among other things, the facts before the Second District in *Krause* and the Fourth District in *Scarfo* are so distinguishable from one another so as to render this appeal not the right opportunity to consider the conflict.

Moreover, even if this Court were to accept the appeal, and even if it were to reverse, Petitioners would be unable, as a matter of law, to establish their unjust enrichment and constructive trust claims which further militates against an exercise of the Court's discretion to hear the appeal. As to the former, notwithstanding Petitioners' argument to the contrary, Petitioners' Brief at 9, the Second District correctly rejected Petitioners' claims for unjust enrichment on limitations grounds based on the undisputed fact that Petitioners never asserted that claim in the bankruptcy proceedings such that that claim could not possibly get the benefit of the tolling provisions of section 1367(d). The case cited to by Petitioners on this issue, Holly v. Innovative, 803 So. 2d 749 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002), has absolutely nothing to do with section 1367, generally, or the tolling provisions of section 1367(d), specifically. In fact, if this Court accepts the appeal it can and should reject Petitioners' argument regarding their unjust enrichment claim for the same reasons explained by the Second District. See Savoie v. State, 422 So. 2d 308, 310 (Fla. 1982) (this Court explained that once it accepts jurisdiction over a case to

resolve the legal issue in conflict it may, in its discretion, consider other issues properly raised and argued before it).

Also, as explained above, Petitioners cannot establish a relationship, let alone a "confidential relationship," with Textron since the Petitioners were not parties to the loans made by Textron to TGCC and Land Group, and Textron was not a party to the contracts pursuant to which TGCC sold golf memberships to the Petitioners. And Petitioners cannot, because of commingling ten (10) years ago, identify specific property, that is, the proceeds of the sale of Petitioners' golf memberships, or the proceeds therefrom. As such, the Petitioners cannot as a matter of law establish a claim for the imposition of a constructive trust. See, e.g., Gersh v. Cofman, 769 So. 2d 407, 409 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000) (stating elements required for the imposition of a constructive trust including the existence of a confidential relationship, and that there exists a trust res that is specific and identifiable property or that can be clearly traced in the assets of the defendant), rev. denied, 791 So. 2d 1097 (Fla. 2001).

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, there is no express and direct conflict between *Krause* and *Scarfo* or, alternatively, the Court should elect to not exercise its discretion to hear the appeal.